Alternative Report to the Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights on Kazakhstan's initial report on the implementation of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights

Drug Use, HIV, Overdose and Harm Reduction: Articles 2, 12 and 15.1.b

Submitted jointly by the Canadian HIV/AIDS Legal Network, the Eurasian Harm Reduction Network, Anti-AIDS (Pavlodar), Equal to Equal (Almaty), KREDO, and the International Harm Reduction Association (IHRA)¹

March 2010

Individuals who use drugs do not forfeit their human rights. These include the right to the highest attainable standard of physical and mental health (including access to treatment, services and care)...a harm reduction approach is the most effective way of protecting rights, limiting personal suffering, and reducing the incidence of HIV.

UN High Commissioner for Human Rights, 2009²

Contents

I. Overview	3
II. Harm Reduction and the International Covenant on Economic Social and Cultural Rights	5
Harm reduction and the right to health (Article 12)	5
Harm reduction, scientific progress and progressive realisation (Articles 15.1.b and 2)	6
III. Drug Use, HIV and Harm Reduction in the Republic of Kazakhstan	7
Needle and syringe programmes (NSPs)	8
Opioid Substitution Therapy (OST)	9
Drug use, HIV and harm reduction in prisons	9
Opiate overdose: prevention and treatment	10
IV. Recommendations	11

Endnotes

I. Overview

People who use illicit drugs are vulnerable to a wide range of negative health consequences as a result of that use, consequences that include infection with blood borne viruses including HIV and hepatitis C, and death from overdose. It is well established that unsafe drug injecting practices are a primary driver of HIV and other blood borne viruses in many countries, including the Republic of Kazakhstan.³ This is despite the fact that there exist inexpensive, evidence-based *harm reduction* interventions – such as the provision of sterile injecting equipment and the prescription of opioid substitution therapy – that have proven effective in reducing the spread of HIV and improving the overall health of people who inject. The effectiveness of such interventions is clear from the fact that HIV–related harm reduction has been adopted in the policies of, *inter alia*, the United Nations system,⁴ specific UN programmes and funds,⁵ the European Union,⁶ the Council of Europe⁷ and the International Federation of the Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies.⁸

In addition to the health risks related to HIV and hepatitis C infections, opiate overdose has been reported as the leading cause of death among people who use drugs in those Central Asian states for which any data are available. ⁹

Section II of this report considers these issues within the framework of the Covenant on Economic Social and Cultural Rights.

As recognised by the High Commissioner for Human Rights, people who use illicit drugs do not forfeit their rights because of the illegal nature of their activities. Indeed, the High Commissioner, the Special Rapporteur on the Right to Health and the Special Rapporteur on Torture have both raised concerns about the failure of States to meet their human rights obligations vis-à-vis people who use drugs and the negative consequences of this failure on both the individual health of drug users and broader public health concerns.

Consideration of illicit drug use, its impacts on both individual and public health and the availability, accessibility, acceptability and quality of HIV prevention measures clearly fall within the remit of the Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights under Article 12 of the Covenant - the right to the highest attainable standard of physical and mental health. This article is supported by article 15.1.b, which guarantees the right of everyone to benefit from scientific progress and its applications, and by article 2, which requires appropriate legislative and budgetary measures to ensure the progressive realisation of these rights.

Section III looks in more detail at the situation in the Republic of Kazakhstan, focusing on HIV prevention for people who inject drugs inside and outside prisons and overdose prevention and treatment.

The Republic of Kazakhstan has the highest rate of injecting drug use in Central Asia (100,000—160,000 people). Despite the efforts made by the Government of Kazakhstan, injecting drug use remains the primary driver of the epidemic in the country (73% of registered cases), and HIV prevalence amongst drug users is high (9.2%)

Opiate overdose has been reported as the leading cause of death of people who use drugs in Central Asia. National data for Kazakhstan, however, do not exist.

These issues, however, and the Government's responses to them are largely absent from the State party's initial report.

HIV prevention

On the positive side, the Government has recognised harm reduction as one of the main priorities in its National AIDS Program for 2006—2010 and the number of needle and syringe programmes (NSPs) has been gradually increasing, reaching a total of 159 sites in 2010. Coverage of these programmes, however, is still insufficient and hampered by factors that deter people from accessing services, such as drug user registration and police interference.

Another positive development has been that opioid substitution therapy (OST) with methadone has been also introduced in two pilot projects in November 2008, in which 50 people are enrolled. However, this programme is small and entirely dependent on international aid. The issue of OST remains highly politicised in the country. There is an urgent need for scale up of this evidence based intervention which has proven effective in reducing HIV and in treating opiate dependence.

Prisons

Prisoners in Kazakhstan are also at very high risk of HIV infection through unsafe injecting practices. However, efforts to address this problem have been insufficient. There are no NSPs in the Kazakhstan prison system, and OST is not permitted, despite successful implementation of both interventions in prisons in other countries. These gaps were specifically raised by the Special Rapporteur on Torture following his 2009 mission to Kazakhstan.

Compulsory HIV testing is common practice in Kazakhstan prisons, and access to HIV antiretroviral treatment (ART) is limited. There is no possibility provided in legislation for court ordered drug dependence treatment as an alternative to imprisonment, meaning that in practice incarceration is the only policy option available for people arrested for drug offences.

Opiate overdose

Given the high rate of opiate use in Kazakhstan, fatal and non-fatal overdose is a high risk. For those who receive medical treatment for opiate overdose, the survival rate is far higher than for those who do not. This situation could be significantly improved by the distribution of Naloxone to lay practitioners and peers (a drug used already by medical staff in Kazakhstan to treat opiate dependence). Opioid substitution therapy has also been shown to greatly reduce the risk of overdose.

Section IV sets out 4 key recommendations relating to these issues for the Government of Kazakhstan

II. Harm Reduction and the International Covenant on Economic Social and Cultural Rights

Harm reduction and the right to health (Article 12)

Harm reduction interventions – including needle and syringe exchange programmes and the prescription of opioid substitution therapy such as methadone – have found considerable support among numerous UN human rights mechanisms, particularly in the context of HIV prevention and the right to the highest attainable standard of health.

The Committee on the Economic, Social, and Cultural Rights, has recommended on several occasions that States Parties scale up their harm reduction programmes in order to meet their obligations under Article 12. For example:

- In its Concluding Observations on Ukraine (2007), the Committee stated that it was "gravely concerned at...the limited access by drug users to substitution therapy," and recommended that the state party "make drug substitution therapy and other HIV prevention services more accessible for drug users."¹⁰
- In the context of the obligation to progressively realise the right to health, the Committee stated in its Concluding Observations on Tajikistan (2006) "that the State party establish time-bound targets for extending the provision of free testing services, free treatment for HIV and harm reduction services to all parts of the country."11
- In its Concluding Observation on Poland (2009), the Committee highlighted its concern at
 the limited access to HIV antiretroviral treatment, particularly among people who use
 drugs. It also raised its concern that "only a small number of drug users have access to
 substitute drug dependence treatment, and that such treatment is even more limited for
 those in detention".12

Both methadone and buprenorphine (the main medications used in opioid substitution therapy) are included on the WHO model essential medicines list. The Committee has noted that the right to health includes access to essential medicines.¹³

The obligation of States to provide access to harm reduction interventions has also received strong support from the **UN Special Rapporteur on the Right to the Highest Attainable Standard of Health**. For example, the former Special Rapporteur Prof Paul Hunt, stated that,

[I]n seeking to reduce drug-related harm, without judgment, and with respect for the inherent dignity of every individual, regardless of lifestyle, harm reduction stands as a clear example of human rights in practice. What began as a health based intervention in response to HIV must today be recognised as an essential component of the right to the highest attainable standard of health for people who inject drugs.¹⁴

Following his country mission to Sweden in 2006, Prof Hunt specifically called upon the Government to implement harm reduction programmes as a matter of priority.¹⁵

The current Special Rapporteur, Anand Grover, has also expressed strong support for harm reduction programmes.

State Parties have obligations under international law and in particular under Article 12 of the International Covenant on Economic Social and Cultural Rights (ICESCR) to prevent epidemics. Therefore, states have an obligation under international law to pursue harm reduction strategies. Under the same provision, State Parties also are obliged to realize the right to highest attainable standard of health, particularly for marginalized communities, such as drug users. This means that drug user communities are entitled to, opioid substitution therapy and drug dependence treatment, both inside and outside prisons. This right has to be realized universally.¹⁶

In 2009, the **UN Human Rights Council** adopted a resolution on human rights and HIV/AIDS that explicitly supported harm reduction interventions, including needle and syringe exchange.¹⁷ The resolution reflected existing Commitments made at the **General Assembly** in 2001 and again in 2006. In 2010, the **UN Commission on Narcotic Drugs** adopted a resolution giving its strongest support to date to the comprehensive package of interventions for HIV prevention treatment and care among injecting drug users – including needle and syringe exchange and opioid substitution therapy. Both **ECOSOC** and the **UNAIDS Programme Co-ordinating Board** have also endorsed these interventions.

The issue of harm reduction and the right to health in prisons has been has been a particular concern of UN human rights monitors. The **Committee on Economic Social and Cultural Rights** has explicitly stated in its General Comment on the Right to Health, that States are under the obligation to respect the right to health by, *inter alia*, refraining from denying or limiting equal access for all persons, including prisoners or detainees. In 2007, the Committee recommended that Ukraine "continue its efforts and take urgent measures to improve the accessibility and availability of HIV prevention to all the population and the treatment, care and support of persons living with HIV/AIDS, including in prisons and detention centres... and make drug substitution therapy and other HIV prevention services more accessible for drug users." 19

Following his country mission to Kazakhstan, the **UN Special Rapporteur on Torture**, Prof Manfred Nowak, recommended that the Government make clean needles and syringes and opioid substitution therapy available in prisons.²⁰

Overdose, however, has not featured prominently in human rights discourse to date.

Harm reduction, scientific progress and progressive realisation (Articles 15.1.b and 2)

The realisation of the right to health in the context of injection driven HIV and harm reduction is further supported by Articles 15.1.b and 2. Together, these articles support the implementation of health systems for HIV prevention that are available, accessible, acceptable and of high quality.

Article 15.1.b guarantees the right of everyone to benefit from scientific progress and its applications. In the context of injecting driven HIV, this means the right to benefit from evidence-based, scientifically proven interventions that can prevent, treat and control HIV/AIDS and that can control and treat drug dependence and drug related harm. Needle and syringe programmes and opioid substitution therapy have a considerable scientific evidence base demonstrating their effectiveness at reducing injecting-related risk behaviours.²¹

Opioid substitution therapy has also proven to be effective as an overdose prevention measure, reducing deaths from overdose by as much as 80%. The administration of Naloxone by health practitioners, harm reduction workers and peers is also effective in reducing mortality rates related to overdose. (See further below)

Article 2 obliges States Parties to take steps to the maximum of available resources to progressively achieve the full realisation of the rights contained in the Covenant. This requires appropriate budgetary planning and allocation of resources for the prevention of injecting driven HIV. In this regard, it should be noted that NSPs and OST have proven to be very cost effective across a range of settings, in both the community and in places of detention.

Article 2 also requires legislative reform in order to create a legal and policy environment conducive to the scale up of these services and the removal of barriers to access and coverage to improve accessibility.

III. Drug Use, HIV and Harm Reduction in the Republic of Kazakhstan

As of July 2009, official records indicated approximately 12,801 people living with HIV in Kazakhstan (62 per 100,000 people). The epidemic is concentrated largely among specific vulnerable populations, primarily people who inject drugs and prisoners. Kazakhstan has the largest number of people who inject drugs in Central Asia (100,000–160,000),²² and injecting drug use is currently the primary driver of the HIV epidemic in the country, accounting for 73% of registered cases.²³ Estimates from the Reference Group to the United Nations on HIV/AIDS and Injecting Drug Use suggest that approximately 9.2% of people who inject drugs in Kazakhstan are living with HIV.²⁴

Almost one in three new cases of HIV infection in the country is diagnosed in penal institutions. In 2007, 600 new HIV cases were registered in Kazakhstan's prisons, representing an increase in HIV prevalence among prisoners from 1% in 2006 to 2% in 2007.²⁵

<u>These issues, however, and the State's responses to them are largely absent from the initial report</u> of Kazakhstan

Harm reduction is a stated priority in Kazakhstan's National AIDS Program for 2006—2010,²⁶ which includes support for needle and syringe programmes. However, while there have been positive developments in recent years that must be welcomed, measures for HIV prevention among people who use drugs and prisoners remain inadequate, and reach a only minority of people in need. Key issues relate to the *availability*, *accessibility* and *quality* of such services.

Needle and syringe programmes (NSPs)

In 2007, estimates showed that NSPs regularly reached only 8.7% of the estimated number of people who inject drugs in the country. Since that time, NSPs have expanded and there are now an estimated 159 sites across the country (up from 129 in 2008).²⁷ While this scale up is to be welcomed and encouraged, there are a range of restrictions on these programmes and barriers to access that continue to impede their effectiveness and coverage.

- Policing practices: Police interference with legal needle and syringe programmes has been documented. This serves to deter service users from attending such services for fear of prosecution on other grounds.²⁸
- Opening hours and location: Client oriented "trust points" are intended to attract target groups to HIV prevention services. However, individuals often find contacts with these facilities unacceptable. In many cities, for example, people who use drugs are afraid to approach trust points because being identified as a drug user may result in further targeting by police. In addition, restricted opening hours mean that these services are not available at times when people need to access sterile injecting equipment. Trust points are located within outpatient facilities, which can present a threat to patients' right to confidentiality. The Government has recognised that the trust points are not sufficiently effective and efficient due in part to these issues.
- Drug user registration: There is a procedure to register people who use drugs in Kazakhstan on the basis of diagnosis of mental and behavioural disorders related to drug use. Registration usually lasts for 5 years. Being placed on a narcological registry entails certain limitations on employment, adoption and driving, and may entail violations of confidentiality of information. A 2006 research survey among injecting drug users of the Republican Center for Applied Research on Drug Addiction in Pavlodar revealed that fear of being registered as a drug user was the single most important factor pushing people away from drug dependence treatment and other healthcare services, with consequent implications for undermining HIV prevention and treatment among this vulnerable population.²⁹
- Lack of confidentiality of patient information: Under the Law of Kazakhstan "On Health Protection", a patient's health information, including information on HIV/AIDS and drug dependence, must be disclosed at the request of health care authorities, police, a prosecutor's office, investigative bodies or a court. If people have reason to fear that information held by health care workers will be shared in ways that could expose them to discrimination or even criminal or administrative prosecution (e.g., for drug-related activities), this is a powerful disincentive to seeking health services.

Opioid Substitution Therapy (OST)

Kazakhstan has recently begun to develop an OST programme in the country. In November 2008, two pilot programmes were initiated in two cities (Pavlodar and Temirtau), serving 50 people. These remain, however, the only such services in the country, and the limited number of places means these programmes are insufficient to have an effect on HIV incidence or prevalence. The programme is financed by the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria, meaning that the programme is very much dependent on international support. There is a disagreement between different ministries (Ministry of Health and Ministry of Interior) on the use of OST and the issue is highly politicised.

These pilot projects are to be welcomed. However, scale up of access to OST for people who are dependent on opiates must be a core element of a comprehensive HIV prevention package.

Drug use, HIV and harm reduction in prisons

Under international law, persons in detention retain all rights except insofar as these are necessarily limited by the fact of incarceration. This includes the right to the highest attainable standard of health. Consequently, it is recognised that people in prisons have a right to access to equivalent health services and care as persons outside prisons, and that denial of such services is not a necessary or justified aspect of incarceration.³⁰ However, there are no NSPs in the correctional system of Kazakhstan, even though such health services are provided by the Government to the general population outside prisons as a HIV prevention measure.

It should be noted that prison needle and syringe programmes have been implemented successfully in other prison systems, and have not been shown to increase drug use or to pose a risk of injury to staff or to risk prison safety in other ways.³¹

Similarly, OST is not provided in prisons in Kazakhstan. This is despite the fact that in a survey of people in prison conducted in 2006:

- 44% of respondents agreed that drug injecting occurs in the penitentiary system;
- 24% of them said that people share syringes inside prison;
- 12.9% asserted that people use means other than syringes for injecting;
- 12% of the respondents confirmed that drug injecting equipment was treated with disinfectant solutions before use.

In the same survey, 40% of respondents reported that people in prison are having sexual relations, with condom use in "less than half of cases".³² In addition, based on responses, the researchers characterised roughly one-third of people in the country's prisons as generally ill-informed about HIV.³³

The Special Rapportuer on Torture, Prof Manfred Nowak, recently completed a mission to Kazakhstan. He noted that "the number of drug users among detainees was fairly high. They were isolated upon arrival and provided with some medical treatment, but no substitution therapy as such." He further raised concerns about the lack of needle and syringe exchange in prisons and

recommended that the Government of Kazakhstan "initiate harm-reduction programmes for drug users deprived of their liberty, including by providing substitution medication to persons and allowing needle exchange programmes in detention."³⁴

Moreover, prisoners are subject to compulsory HIV testing upon admission and six months after admission,³⁵ a practice explicitly rejected as being unethical and ineffective HIV policy by UNODC, WHO and UNAIDS³⁶, and access to antiretroviral treatment for prisoners living with HIV is limited. According to the Government, 115 persons with HIV were receiving antiretroviral treatment in prisons in 2006, but by 2007 only 63 persons were continuing treatment.³⁷

Diversion from the prison system is also an important element in reducing HIV risk among people who inject drugs. However, Kazakhstan's law does not currently provide for court-ordered drug dependence treatment as an alternative to imprisonment. In this respect, the national law does not take full advantage of the flexibility offered under international drug control treaties ratified by Kazakhstan, which explicitly allow States Parties to those treaties to include, in their domestic legislation, alternatives to conviction and incarceration for drug offences, including measures for treatment.³⁸

Opiate overdose: prevention and treatment

In addition to HIV and hepatitis C infection, fatal and non-fatal overdose represents a significant health risk for people who inject drugs. Opiate overdose has been reported as the leading cause of death among people who use drugs in those Central Asian states for which any data are available.³⁹

In Kazakhstan, data on drug overdose on a national level is not available. National AIDS Centre 2008 data from surveillance in Almaty showed that 22% of injecting drug users surveyed reported having an overdose event in the previous year. Of these cases of overdose, approximately 50% will receive formal medical attention while the other 50% will be managed by surrounding witnesses. The great majority of victims of opiate overdose who receive timely medical attention survive, while according to recent reports, the estimated mortality among opiate overdose victims whose care is managed by witnesses is 10%. Anecdotal data from people who inject drugs reveal that witnesses to opiate overdose often hesitate to seek medical care due to a fear of police involvement or an inability to recognise the symptoms of overdose.

In conjunction with training in rescue breathing and expanded methadone and buprenorphine maintenance, preliminary evidence indicates that the lay distribution of Naloxone is an important intervention in reducing the rate of opiate overdose mortality. Naloxone is an opioid antagonist used to treat depression of the central nervous system and respiratory system caused by opiate overdose. Currently in Kazakhstan, Naloxone is used by medical professionals in hospitals and outpatient emergency settings .

The administration of Naloxone, however, does not require specialised medical skills and can be provided by a witness to an opiate overdose. Data from Naloxone distribution programs around the world, including in Russia and Tajikistan, indicate that distribution of free doses of Naloxone by non-medical professionals who regularly work with people who inject can effectively reduce

mortality associated with opiate overdose. When combined with existing HIV prevention and/or harm reduction interventions, programmes for Naloxone distribution require minimal financial investment, as one ampoule of Naloxone costs on average \$3.00 USD. Naloxone distribution, therefore, is an affordable and proven strategy for effectively reducing opiate overdose morality, a leading cause of preventable mortality among people who inject opiates.

Although not designed as overdose prevention programmes per se, OST is strongly associated with significantly reduced overdose.⁴¹ In France, for example, the implementation of OST with buprenorphine saw a decline of almost 80% in deaths from opiate overdose.⁴²

IV. Recommendations

In accordance with Articles 2, 12 and 15.1.b of the Covenant, the Government of Kazakhstan should:

- 1. Ensure, to the maximum of available resources, that evidence based HIV prevention services for people who inject drugs are available and accessible both inside and outside prisons, and that such services are appropriate and of high quality. In particular, the Government should:
 - Continue to scale up needle and syringe programmes, taking due regard of adequate resourcing for and coverage of such services, and ensuring that such services meet the specific needs of target groups (e.g. appropriate opening hours and appropriate location; police co-operation; confidentiality).
 - Scale up, as a matter of urgency, opioid substitution therapy on a national level
 - Ensure access to the comprehensive package of HIV prevention, treatment, care and support for people in prisons, including needle and syringe exchange, opioid substitution therapy, confidential testing and counselling, access to condoms and free antiretroviral treatment. Pilot prison needle and syringe exchange programmes and opioid substitution therapy should be implemented as a priority with a view to the progressive realisation of the right to health of people who use drugs in prisons.
- 2. Abandon the practice of mandatory registration of people who use drugs as a significant and unjustifiable barrier to the realisation of the right to the highest attainable standard of health
- 3. Amend the law to permit evidence-based drug dependence treatment as an alternative to imprisonment. This treatment, however, should be subject to a right of refusal and harsher penalties should not be imposed for refusing treatment or for relapse. Such treatment should wherever possible be provided in the community.
- 4. Improve the prevention and treatment of opiate overdose as a matter of urgency. In particular the Government should:
 - Amend the regulations governing the use of Naloxone for the prevention and treatment of opiate overdoses
 - Ensure adequate budgetary allocation for Naloxone procurement

- Provide adequate training and awareness raising of the administration of Naloxone to harm reduction services, health workers and injecting drug users to prevent deaths from overdoses
- Scale up access to opioid substitution therapy

ENDNOTES

Preventing the Transmission of HIV Among Drug Abusers. A position paper of the United Nations System. Annex to the Report of 8th Session of ACC Subcommittee on Drug Control 28-29 September (2000)

http://www.ihra.net/uploads/downloads/50best/HIVPrevention/HIVTop50Documents18.7.pdf

Commission on Narcotic Drugs Resolution 45/1, Human immunodeficiency virus/acquired immunodeficiency syndrome in the context of drug abuse

http://www.unodc.org/pdf/document 2002-04-25 1.pdf

Commission on Narcotic Drugs Resolution 46/2, Strengthening strategies regarding the prevention of human immunodeficiency virus/acquired immunodeficiency syndrome in the context of drug abuse

http://daccessdds.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/V03/837/76/PDF/V0383776.pdf?OpenElement

Commission on Narcotic Drugs Resolution 47/2, Prevention of HIV among drug users

http://www.unodc.org/pdf/resolutions/cnd_2004_47-2.pdf

Commission on Narcotic Drugs Resolution 48/12, Expanding the capacity of communities to provide information, treatment, health care and social services to people living with HIV/AIDS and other blood-borne diseases in the context of drug abuse and strengthening monitoring, evaluation and reporting systems

http://daccessdds.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/V05/912/35/PDF/V0591235.pdf?OpenElement

Commission on Narcotic Drugs Resolution 49/4, Responding to the prevalence of HIV/AIDS and other blood-borne diseases among drug users

http://daccessdds.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/V06/526/23/PDF/V0652623.pdf?OpenElement

⁵ UNODC (2008) Reducing the adverse health and social effects of drug use: A comprehensive approach. http://www.unodc.org/documents/prevention/Reducing-adverse-consequences-drug-abuse.pdf WHO, UNAIDS & UNODC (2004) Policy Brief: Provision of sterile injecting equipment to reduce HIV transmission. Geneva, World Health Organization, 2004

http://www.who.int/hiv/pub/advocacy/en/provisionofsterileen.pdf; WHO, UNAIDS & UNODC (2004) Position Paper - Substitution maintenance therapy in the management of opioid dependence and HIV/AIDS prevention. Geneva, World Health Organization 2004

http://www.who.int/substance_abuse/publications/en/PositionPaper_English.pdf;

World Health Organization (2007) Model List of Essential Medicines, 15th list March 2007.

http://www.who.int/medicines/publications/EssMedList15.pdf

WHO, UNAIDS & UNODC (2004) Policy Brief: Reduction of HIV Transmission in Prisons, Geneva, World Health Organization, 2004

http://www.who.int/hiv/pub/advocacy/en/transmissionprisonen.pdf

⁶ EU Drugs Action Plan 2005-2008

http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/site/en/oj/2005/c 168/c 16820050708en00010018.pdf

EU Drugs Strategy 2005-2012

http://ec.europa.eu/justice_home/fsj/drugs/strategy/fsj_drugs_strategy_en.htm

⁷ Council of Europe, Parliamentary Assembly Resolution 1576 (2007) For a European convention on promoting public health policy in the fight against drugs

http://assembly.coe.int/Main.asp?link=/Documents/AdoptedText/ta07/ERES1576.htm Council of Europe,

Recommendation R(98)7 of the Committee of Ministers to Member States Concerning the Ethical and Organisational Aspects of Healthcare in Prison, adopted 8 April 1998, 627th Meeting of the Ministers' Deputies; Council of Europe, Recommendation R(93)6 of the Committee of Ministers Concerning Prison and Criminological Aspects of the Control of Transmissible Diseases including AIDS and Related Health Problems in Prison, adopted 18 October 1993, 500th

¹ The International Harm Reduction Association (IHRA) is on of the leading international NGOs promoting policies and practices that reduce drug-related harms, a mandate that has a significant intersection with human rights issues. Drug-related harms in this context include not only increased vulnerability of people who use drugs to HIV and hepatitis C infection, but also includes poor access to healthcare, discrimination, police harassment, imprisonment, invasion of privacy, social marginalization and, in some countries, capital punishment. IHRA is an NGO in Special Consultative Status with the Economic and Social Council of the United Nations.

² High Commissioner calls for focus on human rights and harm reduction in international drug policy, Press release, 10 March 2009

³ See International Harm Reduction Association, the Global State of Harm Reduction 2008: Mapping the response to injection driven HIV and hepatitis C epidemics http://www.ihra.net/GlobalStateofHarmReduction

⁴ UN General Assembly, Declaration of Commitment on HIV/AIDS, 2 August 2001, UN Doc No A/RES/S-26/2, paras 23, 52, 62 http://www.un.org/ga/aids/docs/aress262.pdf

Meeting of the Ministers' Deputies; Council of Europe, P.A. Standing Committee, Recommendation 1080 (1988) On a Co-ordinated European Health Policy to Prevent the Spread of AIDS in Prison; Council of Europe, Recommendation R(2006)2 of the Committee of Ministers on the European Prison Rules, adopted 11 January 2006, 952nd Meeting of the Ministers' Deputies

8 Rome Consensus for a Humanitarian Drug Policy (2005) Italian Red Cross and Senlis Council, signed to date by approximately 110 national Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies

http://www.senliscouncil.net/modules/media centre/press conferences/rome public health/rome consensus

- ⁹ Coffin P. (2008) Overdose: A Major Cause of Preventable Death in Central and Eastern Europe and in Central Asia Recommendations and Overview of the Situation in Latvia, Kyrgyzstan, Romania, Russia and Tajikistan. Vilnius, Lithuania: Eurasian Harm Reduction Network.
- ¹⁰ Concluding observations of the Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights to Ukraine, 2007 paras 28, 51
- 11 Concluding observations of the Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights to Tajikistan, 2006, para 70
- ¹² Concluding observations of the Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights to Poland, 2009, paras 27 & 30
- ¹³ Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, General Comment No 14, para 12 (a)
- ¹⁴ Foreword, Global State of Harm Reduction (2008) http://www.ihra.net/GlobalStateofHarmReduction
- ¹⁵ UN Doc no A/HRC/4/28/Add.2 paras 60-62
- 16 Foreword, Harm Reduction and Human Rights: The Global Response to Drug-Related HIV Epidemics (2009) http://www.ihra.net/GlobalResponse
- 17 Human Rights Council Resolution 12/27 on "The protection of human rights in the context of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) and acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS)"
- 18 Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, General Comment No 14, para 34
- 19 Concluding observations of the Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights to Ukraine, 2007, para 51 ²⁰ UN Doc No. A/HRC/13/39/Add.3, paras 29 and 85(b)
- ²¹ See for example, U.S. Institute of Medicine (2006), Preventing HIV Infection among Injecting Drug Users in High Risk Countries: An Assessment of the Evidence, September 2006

Full text at http://books.nap.edu/catalog.php?record_id=11731#toc

Hunt N (2003) A review of the evidence-base for harm reduction approaches to drug use. London: Report commissioned by Forward Thinking on Drugs – A Release Initiative.

http://www.ihra.net/uploads/downloads/50best/HIVPrevention/HIVTop50Documents1.1.pdf

World Health Organization (2004) Evidence for Action Technical Papers: Effectiveness of Sterile Needle and Syringe Programming in Reducing HIV/AIDS among Injecting Drug Users. Geneva, World Health Organization 2004 http://www.who.int/hiv/pub/prev care/effectivenesssterileneedle.pdf

World Health Organization (2004) Evidence for Action Technical Papers: Effectiveness of drug dependence treatment in HIV prevention, Geneva, World Health Organization 2004

http://www.emro.who.int/aiecf/web203.pdf

Canadian HIV-AIDS Legal Network (2004) Prison Needle Exchange: Lessons from a Comprehensive Review of International Evidence and Experience. Canadian HIV-AIDS Legal Network.

http://www.ihra.net/uploads/downloads/50best/HIVPrevention/HIVTop50Documents8.5.pdf

World Health Organisation, Evidence for Action Technical Papers, Interventions to Address HIV in Prisons: Needle and Syringe Programmes and Decontamination Strategies, WHO/UNODC/UNAIDS, 2007 http://www.who.int/hiv/idu/oms %20ea nsp_df.pdf

World Health Organisation, Evidence for Action Technical Papers, Interventions to Address HIV in Prisons: Drug Dependence Treatments WHO/UNODC/UNAIDS, 2007

http://www.who.int/hiv/idu/EADrugTreatment.pdf

- ²² Mathers, B. et al (2008) for the 2007 Reference Group to the UN on HIV and Injecting Drug Use. "Global epidemiology of injecting drug use and HIV among people who inject drugs: a systematic review." The Lancet, <u>Volume</u> 372, <u>Issue 9651</u>, Pp. 1733 1745.
- 23 http://www.dbregional.info/filebox/5/stat_compendium_en.pdf

http://www.unodc.org/images/uzbekistan/pubs/Compendium08 final.pdf

http://www.soros.org/initiatives/health/focus/ihrd/articles_publications/publications/developments_20080304/developments_20080304.pdf

²⁴ Mathers, B., Degenhardt, L., Phillips, B., Wiessing, L., Hickman, M., Strathdee, S., Wodak, A., Panda, S., Tyndall, M., Toufik, A., Mattick, R., for the 2007 Reference Group to the UN on HIV and injecting drug use. (2008). Global epidemiology of injecting drug use and HIV among people who inject drugs: A systematic review. *The Lancet*, 372(9651), 1733-45

- ²⁵ Sentinel Epidemiological Surveillance Report (2007), National AIDS Centre.
- 26 Program adopted by the Government of Kazakhstan, Resolution No.1216 (15 December 2006).
- ²⁷ Mathers, B., Degenhardt, L., Ali, H., Wiessing, L., Hickman, M., et al. (2010) HIV prevention, treatment and care for people who inject drugs: A systematic review of global, regional and country level coverage. The Lancet doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(10)60232-2, Appendix 9
- ²⁸ Human Rights Watch, 'Fanning the Flames: How Human Rights Abuses Are Fuelling the AIDS Epidemic in Kazakhstan', A Human Rights Watch Report, Vol. 15, No. 4(D), 2003
- ²⁹ UNODC, Achieving Universal Access to HIV Prevention and Treatment for People who use Drugs and Prisoners: A Review of Legislation and Policy in Six Countries, Part II Kazakhstan: Summary report and recommendations (2009).
 ³⁰ United Nations General Assembly, Basic Principles for the Treatment of Prisoners, UNGA Resolution 45/111 (14 December 1990), Article 5
- 31 WHO, UNODC & UNAIDS, Effectiveness of interventions to address HIV in prisons, 2007
- 32 UN Committee on Economic, Social, and Cultural Rights, General Comment 14: The right to the highest attainable standard of health, 22nd Sess. (2000), UN Doc E/C.12/2000/4
- 33 Law "On prevention and treatment of HIV and AIDS" [О профилактике и лечении ВИЧ-инфекции и СПИД], No. 176-XIII (5 October 1994), Article 5. It should be noted that, in apparent contradiction, a ministerial order specifies that HIV testing of people in prison is done voluntarily: Joint Order of the Ministry of Justice No. 96 (28 March 2005) and the Ministry of Health No. 179 (13 April 2005), "On HIV Prevention Improvement in Institutions of Penitentiary System of the Ministry of Justice of the Republic of Kazakhstan" [О мерах по совершенствованию профилактики ВИЧ.инфекции в учреждениях уголовно-исполнительной системы Министерства Юстиции Республики Казахстан], рага 2(1).
- ³⁴ UN Doc No. A/HRC/13/39/Add.3, paras 29, 30 and 85(b)
- ³⁵ Law "On prevention and treatment of HIV and AIDS" [О профилактике и лечении ВИЧ-инфекции и СПИД], No. 176-XIII (5 October 1994), Article 5. It should be noted that, in apparent contradiction, a ministerial order specifies that HIV testing of people in prison is done voluntarily: Joint Order of the Ministry of Justice No. 96 (28 March 2005) and the Ministry of Health No. 179 (13 April 2005), "On HIV Prevention Improvement in Institutions of Penitentiary System of the Ministry of Justice of the Republic of Kazakhstan" [О мерах по совершенствованию профилактики ВИЧ.инфекции в учреждениях уголовно-исполнительной системы Министерства Юстиции Республики Казахстан], рага 2(1)
- ³⁶ WHO, UNODC & UNAIDS, HIV/AIDS Prevention, Care, Treatment and Support in Prison Settings: A Framework for an Effective National Response (Geneva, 2006), Recommendations 13, 16, 37, 16, 62-66, 77
- ³⁷ Government of Kazakhstan, National Progress Report on the implementation of the Declaration of Commitment on HIV/AIDS: Kazakhstan, 30 January 2008
- ³⁸ Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs, 1961, 520 UNTS 331, as amended by the 1972 Protocol, Article 36(2); Convention on Psychotropic Substances, 1971, 1019 UNTS 175, Article 22; Convention against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances, 1988, Article 3(4)
- ³⁹ Coffin P. (2008) Overdose: A Major Cause of Preventable Death in Central and Eastern Europe and in Central Asia Recommendations and Overview of the Situation in Latvia, Kyrgyzstan, Romania, Russia and Tajikistan. Vilnius, Lithuania: Eurasian Harm Reduction Network.
- ⁴⁰ Ibid
- ⁴¹ (Milloy MJ et al. (2009) Overdose experiences among injection drug users in Bangkok, Thailand. Paper presented at 20th International Conference on the Reduction of Drug-Related Harm in Bangkok, Thailand, 20 to 23 April.; Bergenstrom A et al. (2008) A cross-sectional study on prevalence of non-fatal drug overdose and associated risk characteristics among out-of-treatment injecting drug users in North Vietnam. *Substance Use and Misuse* 43: 73–84.; Yin L et al. (2007) Nonfatal overdose among heroin users in southwestern China. *American Journal of Drug and Alcohol Abuse* 33: 505–16.)
- ⁴² Fatseas M & Auriacombe M (2007) Why buprenorphine is so successful in treating opiate addiction in France. Current Psychiatry Reports, 9:5, pages 358-364